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    Dedication


    I dedicate this book to my wife, Nicole. As always, thank you for the many hours of support and patience, advice and guidance, for listening, and, above all, for your unconditional love.


    I also dedicate this book to all officials who continue to work at SARS: our country needs you now more than ever. You make us proud, and I wish for your continued success. Never give up and always stay true to the higher purpose.

  


  
    Author’s note


    I was a taxman for just over 16 years before I left the South African Revenue Service (SARS) in early 2015. In this book I share some of my experiences as a tax sleuth.


    I always worked within the enforcement component of SARS in one or other capacity, and therefore my stories are limited to this sphere of SARS’s business. Some of the cases we investigated received much public attention and my main focus will be on these. Some of these cases we won, others not.


    SARS is a vital institution and pillar within our democracy because it’s the primary mechanism by which the Government collects taxes to fund its programmes and services to the citizenry. The tax authority employs around 14 500 people at any given time. Of these, most work in the operational sections: they deal with the public in registering for tax, filing returns and being subjected to audits, for example; and with customs-and-excise staff at border posts, harbours and airports. Then there are the legal and policy division, human-resources management, the finance and information-technology components, and the administrative division that holds everything together. There was also the centralised Large Business Centre, dedicated solely to servicing large corporates and multinationals because they contribute such a large portion of tax to the fiscus.


    So, within this broad framework, the enforcement component of SARS was really quite small (although, as you will come to learn, it punched well above its weight). This enforcement capacity came into play only when people failed in their legal obligations to SARS and where we believed we could assist the State in combating organised crime.


    My stories take place against SARS’s growth from a relatively unknown state department into one of the country’s most efficient and trusted public institutions. However, sadly, where previous to 2015 we regularly read about successes achieved by SARS, since 2015 SARS has been in the news more often for false reports about a so-called ‘rogue unit’, and allegations of ‘state capture’ and corruption by some of its leaders. This book therefore also discusses developments in recent years and their impact on the institution, including the departure of over 55 executives within a matter of months, and the ultimate reported loss of over 500 staff in the 2016/17 fiscal year.


    For several years I managed a small investigative unit that was falsely dubbed the ‘rogue unit’ by the Sunday Times newspaper. This unit consisted of 26 people at first, but by 2010 had dwindled to seven, and then finally to six people.


    After the untrue accusations surfaced in the media in late 2014, reports continually seemed to imply that this was all I ever did at SARS – manage this small ‘rogue unit’. I’ve said it before and I want to repeat it here: from when I took over the management of this fairly nondescript unit in early 2008, it accounted for less than 5% of my daily duties; it was a mere support unit to other larger units and external law-enforcement agencies.


    When I left SARS, I intended to put my time there behind me and start a new life. I’m still trying to do that, even though some people continue to try and drag me and others into all kinds of dramas that I firmly believe are not in the interests of SARS and our country.


    When Jonathan Ball Publishers asked me to consider writing a book about my experiences at SARS before my resignation, I reflected on certain key cases and decided to go ahead in the hope that, by sharing these stories and lessons learned, I could possibly assist my former colleagues and perhaps even aspirant SARS officials who’re planning to dip their toes into big cases for the first time. I also hope that these stories may assist the public in general and the new management at SARS to reflect on how far SARS had come, and inspire them to pull things together and get the institution back to operating at the levels it used to.


    A fear in writing this book is that I could be seen by some to be holding a grudge, but I can assure you that this is not the case. While saddened by the many negative stories about SARS that have dominated the media over recent years, I really bear no grudges. In fact, when I left SARS on 4 February 2015, the last man I shook hands with was the then newly appointed SARS commissioner, Tom Moyane and I meant it when I wished him well for his future endeavours.


    In a strange twist of fate, while I was busy with the final edits of this book, President Cyril Ramaphosa suspended Moyane pending a disciplinary enquiry into various allegations against him. This followed within days after Ivan Pillay, myself and another individual received a summons from the South African Police Service (SAPS) to attend court on 9 April 2018 on a charge by the National Prosecuting Authority (NPA) of my supposedly having allowed a corrupt practice some time ‘between August and September 2008’. Following our first court appearance, the matter was remanded to June 2018, and it’s likely it will be referred to a higher court to a later date. It is, of course, a bogus charge, and one that I will defend vehemently – but these events demonstrate the continually shifting sands of our young and imperfect democracy in the wake of the state-capture revelations of recent years.


    What started off as a relatively simple concept to tell multiple short stories, one after another, changed in time to a sequential string of critical events at SARS. In writing these stories, I’ve been somewhat limited by law in providing certain specifics about taxpayers and SARS operations that aren’t in the public domain. I’ve had to dig around in old newspaper reports, court files and public records, and speak to a few old friends. Everything I share in this book is publicly available and verifiable, except where I state otherwise; it has also all been checked by lawyers. I make use of extensive endnotes for those bookworms who may wish to read more about the stories in this book and for legal reasons.


    All the cases I worked on were dependent on team work, so while my name may have been made public in my association with these cases, please remember that the outcome was the result of a collective effort.


    Johann van Loggerenberg

  


  
    Foreword


    Since 1999, the management of SARS has seen the role of the institution as part of the national effort to make South Africa succeed.


    Given South Africa’s location far from the main developed markets of the world, and with its colonial and apartheid history, it was always going to be difficult for us to be successful. Nothing short of a superhuman effort would be required to turn the promise of the negotiated solution of the early 1990s into reality.


    Over time, we assembled at SARS a team from diverse backgrounds. We were Africans, Indians, coloureds and whites, with a sprinkling of non-South Africans. We made it explicit that there was a place and role for each one of us in SARS, provided there was commitment to the future of South Africa and to the future of SARS.


    Although Johann (known as ‘JvL’ by friend and foe) was never in the national executive of SARS, he was a key participant in the new SARS team. A young former police official, aghast at the iniquities of apartheid, he committed himself to the new South Africa. Among all our staff, he made the most impact on the theory, policy and practice of enforcement. He gathered around him bright and energetic young people who were just as enthusiastic as he.


    The SARS management team of which JvL was a part strove for the unity of all staff. We drew into action those who, because of their experi­ence and interests, would not be negatively disposed to the new dispensation.


    We quickly withdrew voluntary retirement packages – a poorly designed tool that in fact weakened the public service as it accelerated the departure of the most capable white members of staff. Those who weren’t skilled and knowledgeable enough hesitated to test the market and stayed behind. Thereafter we retained much of the legacy staff, infusing it with new skills, perspectives and knowledge.


    Over the next ten years, we succeeded in changing the demographics of SARS without forcing anybody out because of their skin colour, while thoroughly transforming the business of tax and customs.


    We were advised early on not to make big technological changes; instead, we focused on changing our processes and bedding them down, stream­lining our organisational structure, and improving our manage­ment capability. It was only from 2008 that we made significant techno­logical changes to our systems.


    SARS was reorganised into front offices, back offices and enforcement centres, enabling the standardisation and reengineering of our processes. Jobs were redesigned and levels of work reduced. We created an exciting and formidable institution. We had dyed-in-the-wool public servants for whom SARS was their first and only job. We had other ‘firsts’ – for those who came directly from the liberation struggle, SARS was their first formal employment. Still others were highly successful professionals and managers from the private sector, attracted by the vision of the senior team and its recent track record. Indeed, during that period, it was said that a stay at SARS considerably boosted one’s CV.


    At SARS we prided ourselves on our ability to implement and manage. We cared, and we were driven to succeed – we got things done:


    As the main channel of revenue to the fiscus, in good faith we did what was ethical for a well-meaning government to be funded. In their book Rogue: The Inside Story of SARS’s Elite Crime-busting Unit, JvL and Adrian Lackay refer to this as SARS’s ‘higher purpose’.


    Our lodestar was the compliance philosophy: the basic tenet that, under conducive conditions, most people would do the right thing.


    There are three levers that influence compliance behaviour: awareness, making it easy to do the right things and difficult to do the wrong things, and a credible enforcement capability.


    Creating awareness was about informing and explaining to people the what, why and how of taxation; the second lever informed the design and management of systems to make compliance hassle-free; and the third lever was well organised and tightly managed so that we were fair to all, efficient and effective. We called this approach ‘breadth, depth and leverage’: we wanted to convey that SARS could reach each and every taxpayer.


    When the criminal-justice system began to fail us, we complained, wrote memos and cajoled our counterparts. But we didn’t stop there. We looked for other solutions and we found some of them right under our noses.


    We began to place greater dependency on the remedies afforded by civil litigation. To this end, we amended legislation to increase the penalty provisions that we could levy. We sourced people in the required field and we learned. Some of our staff became specialists in insolvency and forfeiture of assets, among other things.


    Our experience and our study of the illicit economy suggested that we try to understand it as a business with a value chain of suppliers, transporters, storage and warehousing, sellers, customers, market prices, payment systems, investments, substitutes and competition. Then we identified the crucial points and took actions to disrupt them. As JvL shows in Rogue, by the end of 2013, smugglers and producers of illicit tobacco products were on the ropes.


    As I’ve noted, we saw our contribution as our national duty to South Africa. Over and above our normal duties at SARS, we tried to spread a ‘good virus’ from below. We assisted other state entities that pulled us in, including providing the software to Home Affairs for processing entries to and exits from South Africa for the 2010 World Cup, designing the new ID cards, supporting the Department of Health in the Eastern Cape, providing engineers and analysts to the Government Employee Pension Fund, initiating and coordinating the foundational work in researching procurement in state institutions, proposing and designing the Chief Procurement Office, and convening many workshops for public servants over the years that were centred on the SARS experience.


    We worked incredibly hard and we were voracious learners. We made mistakes, but we corrected ourselves and steamed ahead. We mixed activism with good implementation skills. Our project-management expertise was tempered with systemic thinking. Above all, we had little tolerance for the dishonest and self-seeking politicking that seemed to permeate other state institutions.


    SARS was named a ‘preferred employer’ in South Africa over many consecutive years, and in benchmarking exercises carried out by inter­national institutions, SARS appeared among the top performers in the world in many of the key indicators.i


    The facts show that SARS and some of its key officials came under attack from about 2001. From that time onwards, relentlessly, outlandish allegations against the SARS leadership were circulated. These so-called ‘intelligence dossiers’ were usually provided to the media, political parties and ministers of the Government, and very few politicians (of all parties) and senior public servants dealt with the information in a principled manner.


    Nonetheless, our quick and thorough responses, including engage­ment with the criminal-justice system, kept the attackers at bay: as long as there was a stable, experienced political leadership of integrity, we at SARS could hold our own.


    Over the years, we built up the most capable and feared enforcement capability in the State. Relatively few attempts at penetrating SARS and undermining its integrity succeeded. Indeed, we remained, until 2014, impervious to bribes, threats, political influence and the machinations of intelligence structures that had been infiltrated by criminals.


    These disaffected elements, made up of former and existing SARS employees, tax evaders, criminals and political middlemen, naturally began to find each other. Since all attempts to weaken SARS failed, the only remaining solution was for the president to move against the Finance Ministry and place a willing body at the head of the institution. In a matter of just a few months, the new heads managed to rid SARS of its most senior management, replacing them with predominantly non-tax executives of dubious integrity and capability.


    The performance of SARS, despite all the propaganda from the new management from September 2014 to the time of writing (November 2017), has not inspired hope or confidence.


    When the campaign to target and isolate JvL found some traction prior to the appointment of Tom Moyane, my response was simple: more than once, I said to the seemingly concerned members of staff, ‘When you’re as committed to the South Africa that’s described in our Constitution, and you work as smart and hard as Johann, I’ll take you seriously.’


    This book covers some of the key cases in which JvL and his teams were involved, which tested our resolve and our ingenuity, and which in turn enabled us to improve our standards continually. I believe that there are important lessons to be taken from these cases that can inform the rebuilding of SARS and the criminal-justice system of South Africa.


    Ivan Pillay


    Former deputy SARS commissioner1

  


  
    Part 1


    Early days


    ‘Tax evasion, illicit financial flows and transfer pricing are contributors to the tax gap in any country, and the extent to which they’re uncontrolled undermines the fiscal capacity of the various countries.’


    – Pravin Gordhan, addressing the Conference on Illicit Financial Flows: Inter-Agency Cooperation and Good Tax Governance in Africa, University of Pretoria, July 2016
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    Tax activists


    On 25 August 2016 – the so-called ‘day of the warning statements’ – I found myself sitting on a dodgy chair in a stuffy, gloomy room in Pretoria.


    Old tables and chairs, and a dilapidated couch with stuffing sticking out of it, lined the walls of this social room-cum-kitchenette. Yellowing posters with anti-corruption slogans and internal notices were stuck to the walls, some curling up at the edges. An old fridge purred along, and a hot-water urn made a clicking sound as it switched on and off. The windows looked out onto the building next door.


    From time to time, people would enter and make themselves a cup of tea or coffee, then walk out again. Some of them I knew well from my time at the South African Revenue Service (SARS) but my attempts at small talk failed repeatedly.


    Far away I could hear people singing. One song I recognised clearly was the struggle song ‘Senzeni na?’ (What have we done?).


    A few hours before, I, together with former SARS deputy commis­sioner Ivan Pillay and our lawyers, had entered the offices of the Hawks – the Directorate for Priority Crime Investigation, established in 2008 as an independent directorate within the South African Police Service (SAPS) – in Visagie Street. We had a date with what’s known as the Crimes Against the State (CATS) unit of the Hawks, mandated to investigate terrorism, weapons of mass destruction, treason and subversion of our country’s sovereignty.


    Pillay was accused of pension fraud and of creating a ‘rogue intelli­gence unit’ at SARS, while I’d supposedly been unlawfully running the so-called rogue unit since 2010 and had involved myself with corrupt payments through a fundraiser for charitable causes. (As revealed in my 2016 book Rogue: The Inside Story of SARS’s Elite Crime-busting Unit, which I co-wrote with Adrian Lackey, all were baseless allegations.)


    As we approached the building a crowd awaited us, among whom I immediately recognised human-rights lawyer George Bizos and former constitutional judge and Freedom Under Law civil-rights activist Johann Kriegler. More familiar faces jumped out – those of human-rights activist Francis Antonie of the Helen Suzman Foundation, and Mark Heywood, the founder of Section27, a public-interest law centre promoting human rights. I also recognised Ben Theron and Wayne Duvenage from the Organisation Undoing Tax Abuse (OUTA), some members of Corruption Watch, including David Lewis, and people from other civil-rights groups.


    Print, radio and television journalists were all over the place, with flashing cameras and camera crews.


    My wife, Nicole, came towards me from the crowd. She took my hand and gave it a tight squeeze. We manoeuvred our way to the front doors, where we were met by an official who took us up to the designated floor where the CATS unit would question not only Pillay and me, but also Finance Minister Pravin Gordhan.


    The three of us had been summoned to the Visagie Street headquarters in letters drafted on a Sunday and hand-delivered to our lawyers the following morning. We’d been instructed to appear before CATS on 25 August, for them to take down ‘warning statements’ with regard to their investigation into allegations of a ‘rogue unit’ at SARS, and in Gordhan’s case into his approval of Pillay’s early-retirement package and reappointment at SARS in 2010.


    Gordhan, acting on legal advice, had declined to attend. Pillay and I, despite receiving the same legal advice, had decided to go – our situation was different to Gordhan’s, as by then we had left Government.


    We were welcomed by a smiling Brigadier Nyameka Xaba, the CATS head. He took us down a corridor to an office, and introduced us to two of his colleagues. They decided to interview Pillay first, and I was shown to the drab coffee room and told to stay put.


    I sat there for two hours, waiting to be questioned by people I’d once regarded as fellow civil servants who I thought were also fighting the good fight. And as I sat, I reflected on my 16-year career at SARS and the events that had brought me to this moment in time.


    I recalled my very first day at SARS, 17 years before. Back then, SARS had just started its journey from being a mainly administrative institution to a more modern and agile organisation that could serve our new democracy with fresh energy.


    Many stories jumped to mind, some of which could provide excellent plotlines for crime thrillers. Most of them made me extremely proud for what we’d been able to achieve with fairly limited resources and an abundance of dedication – even right at the beginning, there were already quite a few big fishes to fry.


    Many of the stories I thought of made me smile, although some made me angry and slightly melancholic, especially where our efforts had been thwarted by a lack of cooperation between different state departments or political meddling.


    I thought of my former colleagues, some of whom had left SARS, others who’d remained; some had parted ways in less-than-ideal circum­stances, and some had passed away.


    Over the years I’d met some truly amazing people at SARS, all part of the vast number of success stories that reflected so well on our country, our Government and our revenue agency.


    I resolved that day that no matter what happened, no matter what lay ahead for us, some of the stories would be told, one way or another …


    I first joined SARS in late 1998, and a few months later Ivan Pillay, who would go on to become deputy commissioner, was appointed general manager: Special Investigations. We had many planning ses­sions and meetings about different aspects of the institution that then Finance Minister Trevor Manuel, his deputy, Jabu Moleketi, and SARS commissioner Pravin Gordhan and his executive believed were achievable. (Pravin Gordhan joined SARS as deputy commissioner in 1998, and became commissioner in 1999.)


    It was customary for Pillay to convene working sessions and meetings on weekends, when we were free from our daily work responsibilities. In some cases, these meetings were formal and related to our work; in others, they were simply broad discussions around strategy and planning. One of these meetings happened to take place at a nursery near Pillay’s home on a Saturday morning. It was here that I first heard the term ‘economic transformation’, when Pillay explained how SARS was playing a pivotal part in the newly formed democratic government.


    In his usual soft-spoken manner, pausing often to find the right words, he told us that while political freedom might have been achieved in South Africa in 1994, the struggle was nowhere near over. There was still much to be done, he said, and it would take many years, probably well beyond the lifetime of some of us at that meeting, to achieve genuine economic freedom.


    Pillay said the political changes may have brought constitutional order, equality, human rights and political freedom, but that the lives of the black majority hadn’t changed overnight. We should remember that those people who’d lived in South Africa during apartheid, both victims and beneficiaries of the regime, hadn’t just disappeared on the night after the first democratic elections. South African society would feel the structural, psychological and economic effects of apartheid for many years to come.


    SARS could help to ensure that South Africa became economically free from having to rely on outside donors and borrowing, Pillay told us, and at the same time become self-sufficient and able to fund the respective programmes Government wanted to implement to develop society. Tax was part of achieving this goal.


    The idea that SARS employees were activists in striving for a better South Africa was being established. If SARS achieved its targets, the Government could fund its own initiatives, more grants could be paid to the destitute, more homes, schools, clinics, hospitals and police stations could be built, more state officials could be trained and deployed, municipal services could be expanded, electricity and water could be provided to people who’d never had access to these services, and, as a result, job opportunities and economic growth could be created.


    While this is a slight oversimplification of the system and how eco­nomics works, it basically meant that if SARS could collect enough money per year, as required by Government, not only would citizens benefit from it, but our economy would grow and bring us closer to fiscal sovereignty. I think we all understood the importance of this.


    While the governmental system had to be modernised and adapted to the times and the needs of all South Africans, neither Pillay nor Gordhan wanted to throw the proverbial baby out with the bathwater when it came to SARS employees. They recognised that many of the ‘old order’ employees had years of technical expertise and experience, and they didn’t want to lose that capacity. In time, they began to identify those who’d embraced the political changes and wanted to contribute to our new democracy. There were instances where heads bumped, and a few dug in their heels and used every trick to frustrate and hamper change at SARS, but the vast majority moved forward to help make SARS a better institution.


    In those early years we were inspired not only by the philosophy of individuals like Pillay but also by the leadership of Manuel, Moleketi and Gordhan.


    Manuel had instituted what became informally known as ‘Monday mornings’, at which the SARS executive briefed him on matters of importance. The ‘Monday mornings’ practice would continue for many years, through the period when Gordhan was finance minister and Nhlanhla Nene deputy minister, and when the latter ultimately became minister. He was a hard taskmaster, but fair. He always wanted us to do better.


    I started attending some of these meetings, usually just to sit in and be ready with details of particular matters if required. I distinctly recall my first such meeting. Manuel had expressed concern about the unscrupulous practice of using industrial alcohol to manufacture very cheap brands of consumer-alcohol products and selling these off to unsuspecting buyers – industrial alcohol is poisonous and can cause tremendous damage to the liver and other vital organs. Manuel knew everything there was to know about these ‘poisoned alcohol’ cases, from the brand names and selling prices to where they were being distributed. The practice was on the rise, and Manuel wanted us to do everything we could to track down those behind it and bring them to book.


    I was tasked to brief him on our progress in these cases. We’d managed to identify and investigate the primary role-players in this racket – but Manuel wanted more, and he wanted it soon. That’s how he was – in touch with what was happening in our country, aware that SARS could play a role in many areas that were troubling our land, and impatient when we took too long to catch the crooks.


    The other thing that struck me that day was the man’s focus. It was incredible. He’d had a long meeting the evening before; he was always in early and he’d probably had very little sleep. At times, as I continued with my briefing, he would close his eyes – I could see he was dead tired. Wondering if he’d fallen asleep, I hesitated for a second or two – and he instantly opened his eyes, looked straight at me and began firing off questions.


    Gordhan was the same in many respects. Both men didn’t suffer fools, didn’t waste time and abhorred any form of corruption, no matter how small. Both had the rare capacity to deal with the big picture, the long-term aspects, issues that span lifetimes, strategies and tactics; and then, in an instant, be able to drill down to the minute details of the what, where, who, when and how. They effortlessly moved through these matters; it was second nature to them. They came up with questions and ideas that, no matter how hard we and our teams may have tried to prepare for our briefings with them, always managed to stretch our minds beyond what we were doing at any point in time. They always encouraged us to think outside the box, to move forward, to never give up.


    Manuel and Gordhan had zero tolerance for people who came to meetings unprepared. They would catch the person out immediately, and the perpetrator wouldn’t easily be let off the hook. Eventually we resorted to preparing two types of presentations for these men, one dealing with the big picture and strategy, and the other delving into the intricate details. And even then, they would both still, effortlessly, ask us questions and direct our thinking to aspects beyond those we’d brought to the table.


    Both former anti-apartheid activists and underground operatives who’d suffered isolation through imprisonment, banning orders, torture and dirty tricks by the apartheid regime, Trevor Manuel and Pravin Gordhan are truly remarkable men. It’s a shame that our country was robbed of such brilliant minds for so many years.


    What they brought to us at SARS was the hope and belief that we could all be activists, and we could all contribute to making our country great.
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    Full circle


    An urban legend doing the rounds in Durban in the 1980s and ’90s told of a young man by the name of Barney who’d taken an arm of daggaii ‘on appro’, then bought a one-way train ticket to Johannesburg, with a whole grilled chicken, a loaf of bread and a bottle of milk to sustain him on his journey. Once in the big city, Barney broke the arm up into sticks (small cigarillo-style rolled-up portions of dagga), which he spent the weekend selling, making a small profit on each sale. The demand for dagga in Johannesburg was at a high at the time, especially if it was Durban Poison1 – users would pay extra for the special high the weed from the coastal city promised.


    At the end of the weekend, so the story went, Barney used the profit to buy a ticket back to Durban and pay his supplier. He was left with just enough to buy a slightly bigger package of dagga for his next trip the following weekend.


    The young man kept turning a profit in this way until he could recruit others to do similar trips to Johannesburg on his behalf. This is how, apparently, Barney turned his small business into a little empire.


    According to this legend, Barney started diversifying his product offerings, investing in shipments of Mandrax2, mainly from India. Soon enough, his small empire grew into a much larger one, and Barney became one of the largest importers, investors in imports and, later, manufacturers and dealers of Mandrax in Natal (today KwaZulu-Natal).


    As time went by, Barney began to expand his reach beyond Durban, and beyond drug dealing. He ultimately invested in legitimate businesses ranging from a nightclub and a jewellery store to a clothing business and even a butchery. He eventually got married and had a family for whom he built a mansion in the Durban suburb of Sydenham. He began to plough back into his community by donating generously to community projects and services.


    That, at least, is how the urban legend goes.


    It was 1994, the year of South Africa’s first-ever democratic elections. I was in the prime of my life, barely 25 years old, with long, dark brown hair hanging down my back. Usually you’d find me unshaven and wearing sandals, jeans and a kurta (a long shirt of Indian origin). Working as a deep-cover agent for the police’s Organised Crime Intelligence Unit, I’d been trying for a few years to get into the Mandrax market in Durban.


    In retrospect, it strikes me as odd that I actually believed that as a white privileged Afrikaans-speaking boy – because that’s what I was – I could actually go and live in Durban, hang around the taxi-ranks all day looking for dodgy deals, and somehow manage to deceive hardened and experienced drug dealers into believing that I wanted to join them. But, sure enough, there I was, trying to do just that on the side of a road in Sydenham, very close to the home of someone I’d only ever heard of.


    Michael Tyrone Barnabas was an enigmatic entrepreneur who was well known and even revered (and also somewhat feared) in the area. He lived in a large facebrick home just off the highway in Sydenham, a township for Indians and coloured people.


    It had taken me some months to gain the confidence of the man I was with, a taxi-driver called Calvin. I was trying to move closer to a group of people I knew were associated with Barnabas and people close to him. Just the week before, I’d participated in a controlled deal where I’d bought Mandrax from a dealer, with an interloper – an informant – by my side to assist me, so that this ‘assistant’ could spread the word that I was in the trade. Soon enough, the news that I was in the business of buying and selling Mandrax started doing the rounds.


    That day Calvin and I were standing by the side of the road when Barnabas’s gold Mercedes-Benz passed us. He was in the passenger seat, and his driver pulled up next to us. He rolled down his window and I finally came face to face with the man I’d heard so much about. Expensive golf shirt, chinos, expensive shoes and an expensive wristwatch, I noted.


    Using one finger, Barnabas dropped his Ray-Ban Aviator sunglasses just a little. He had close-cropped hair and was clean shaven, with friendly eyes and a big smile – but you could also see that this wasn’t someone you wanted to mess with. He just had that look about him.


    He started the conversation – he’d heard about my Mandrax deal and wanted to know where I got my product from. Well, I wasn’t going to behave as if I knew what he was talking about; that’s not how the game of dealing in Mandrax works. People who trade in Mandrax and don’t know each other don’t just advertise the fact openly. You get to hear of each other and then ‘test’ each other out without actually admitting openly to what you’re involved in. So I shook my head.iii


    There were a few more ums and ahs, but it wasn’t long before his driver, realising the conversation was headed for a dead end, started up the car and slowly started driving off.


    As he rolled up his window, Barnabas winked at me.


    For the next few years, I’d continue to try to infiltrate the groupings and circles associated with Barnabas, but with little success. However, I was able to collect enough information to lead the police to an illegal Mandrax-manufacturing plant, for which Barnabas and a number of others were charged.


    In October 19993 an affidavit before the Durban High Court disclosed how two police undercover operations had been launched during previous years, one dating as far back as 1993, which had led to the identification of individuals involved in the Mandrax trade in the greater Durban area. It was in one of these two operations that I’d acted as an undercover police agent.4 These court papers formed part of efforts by Government to seize over R50 million in assets that were allegedly the proceeds of selling illegal Mandrax tablets.


    The subjects of these two undercover investigations, one of which was dubbed ‘Operation Indiana’, included Ronny Johnny Smith, described in the affidavit as ‘the kingpin of a sophisticated and currently active drug syndicate’. The court papers further identified Asgar Hoosen ‘Butch’ Ebrahim, Andrew ‘Maxi’ Chetty and Vusi Radebe. Taped conversations were submitted that implicated others, such as one ‘Barbara’, Martin Luther, Nithia Chinnasamy (who was already on trial on a charge of murder), Bimbo Sagren Pillay (then facing charges for dealing in and conspiracy to deal in illicit drugs) – and none other than Michael Tyrone Barnabas.


    Barnabas had previous convictions for a range of offences dating back as far as 1974, but up until then the police had been unable to get their man. Despite the best efforts of law-enforcement agencies, however, he was again acquitted. He was as elusive as ever.5


    In the 1990s, while most of my peers were just starting their careers after doing their national service, or were busy with their studies, or were dating their future wives, I was pretending to be someone and something that I wasn’t. My life wasn’t balanced at all, and I was living under very unnatural conditions. I had nobody to trust and absolutely no support network.


    Cut off from my family and with no real friends, my only link to any form of normality and sanity was my ‘handler’ – but even contact with him was limited to prearranged brief meetings, usually in a car park, during which I handed over information reports, answered questions and received new tasks.


    In an interview with City Press newspaper many years later, in 2014, my handler said, ‘Johann lost contact with his family. I was his father, his mother, his brother and his sister. Nobody knows what it was like to live a lie for 24 hours a day. He was on his own with no friends, no family, nothing. He was dealing with ruthless people and his exposure could mean death.’6


    This may be the reason why, in November 1998, at the age of 29, I joined SARS. Although I’d also been offered a job at the then South African Secret Service which would likely have better suited my background as an undercover police agent, I think by then that living a life of secrecy had taken its toll, and I wanted to start a normal life.


    At the time I joined the tax authority, it had only just become a single entity. As a hangover of the past, two separate investigative units existed under the former Customs & Excise and Inland Revenue departments. The so-called Inspectorate had offices in all the main cities in the country and conducted a type of audit of taxpayers known as a ‘special tax review’ (the forerunner of today’s lifestyle audits); each inspector could select who to investigate and when to do so.


    The Customs Special Investigations unit had offices in Pretoria, Durban, Port Elizabeth and Cape Town.


    An operational agreement between SARS and the Commercial Crimes division of the police, and a High Court case concerning the constitutionality of private criminal investigations, were the primary legal mechanisms used by SARS to conduct criminal investigations into tax crimes.7


    After amalgamation, these units were brought into a single division called Special Investigations. In 1999 Ivan Pillay was appointed as general manager for the Special Investigations division, later renamed National Special Investigations.


    The intelligence unit I worked in fell under Special Investigations. Our mandate was to collect, collate and analyse data of previous and existing criminal investigations of tax and customs cases in order to determine trends; introduce what later became known as the Suspicious Activity Report System;8 and direct tax and customs investigations more intelligently than having regional offices selecting and investigating cases as they deemed fit, which was the case at the time.


    Our little intelligence unit was new in SARS, and it was viewed with some suspicion, mainly because investigators were no longer allowed to pick and choose who they wished to investigate.


    A separate division under the Debt Collection Division called Prosecutions consisted of ‘tracers’ who primarily had to find errant taxpayers who’d failed to submit tax returns, and serve them with subpoenas issued by court. Prosecutors and two courts (Pretoria and Cape Town) were dedicated to SARS’s outstanding-returns prosecutions.


    Investigations weren’t selected on any notion of priority or risk at the time, and usually resulted in admission-of-guilt fines. The result was that some people were subpoenaed for one outstanding return, while others who’d failed to submit returns for multiple years weren’t addressed. As a result, the number of outstanding tax returns grew exponentially year by year.


    By January 2000, as a newcomer, I had virtually no cases to my name and was still unsure of myself in the new job. We’d just started an experimental outfit called the Special Compliance Unit, the aim of which was to enable SARS to assist the State and its law-enforcement agencies to curb the rising levels of crime in our young democracy.9 The unit, of which I was the manager, was a mixed bag of old hands, people with accounting and auditing skills, a few former policemen, two former prosecutors, and a handful of inexperienced newcomers who came to be referred to as ‘people off the streets’. I insisted on the inclusion of these newcomers despite resistance from the old guard, who not only thought we didn’t know what we were doing, but also viewed us through the tainted lens of a specific ideology. They didn’t trust Gordhan, Pillay and other new employees, such as the manager of Customs and Excise, Vuso Shabalala, who hailed from a struggle background, and would constantly find reasons to sabotage any new concepts or ideas because they didn’t want the ‘new guys’ to succeed. (While I shared their demographics, being Afrikaans-speaking and white, I sided with the ‘commies’, which was anathema to them.)


    The complaint of the old guard was that tax and customs cases were too complicated to give to newcomers, and that it would be impossible for these ‘people off the street’ to investigate them successfully. But we soldiered on, assigning the newcomers to some of the more experienced employees who were prepared to work together in the new unit. We soon proved the naysayers wrong.


    One of the first cases the Special Compliance Unit took on was that of Michael Barnabas. His case was part of a broader multi-agency national threat assessment and anti-organised crime drive. We contacted the police and managed to get copies of their old dockets on Barnabas, as well as the 1999 case before the Durban High Court. We worked day and night going through these files to see if we could pick up any useful information from a tax-collection perspective.


    We were working out of a small office in Hatfield, Pretoria and had little in terms of equipment, laptops and printers. However, what we had between us, we shared. The energy and willingness among the group members to learn and work long hours was truly astounding. The police and prosecutors who’d been involved in the 1999 case were also extremely helpful and cooperative.


    The experienced guys, the old hands on the team, told us that the only way in which we were going to understand Barnabas’s finances would be to use the ‘special tax review’ methodology they’d perfected over the years. And so the case of SARS v Michael Tyrone Barnabas and related entities was born.


    Our first step was to do a special tax review on Barnabas. This is where an investigator looks at someone’s lifestyle and compares it to the assets, income and expenses declared by the person under investigation. A finding is then made as to whether that person is living within his means. The central method these inspectors relied on is known among accountants and auditors as a ‘capital reconciliation’. In layman’s terms, this means the auditor looks at the tangible and identifiable asset growth of an individual or company over a certain period, converts it into real value in monetary terms, and compares this to what the taxpayer has declared to the Receiver of Revenue for that same period.


    Lifestyle audits are notoriously complicated. They require lots of time and effort. Not only are they heavily dependent on the inspector or investigator being able to acquire and utilise third-party information, but they’re more often than not conducted on taxpayers who’re recalcitrant or refuse to cooperate and try their best to hide their true income from the Receiver of Revenue.10


    So these inspectors had to look at everything in respect of the submitted financials of a taxpayer, but they also had to look beyond that, seeking out undisclosed or hidden income.


    The weakness of people who don’t want to pay tax lies in their greed – ultimately, they usually want to live large and use the money they’ve amassed, and this is exactly what the special tax review relies on. The greedy spend their profits, and when they do, this can be identified and taken into account when a special tax review is done.


    In the Barnabas case we did everything by the book. He was notified of the investigation and asked to produce his financial records for verification and audit. There was constant toing-and-froing of correspondence between our Hatfield office and his accountants and lawyers in Durban. Slowly but surely, we pieced together the case. In the end our findings suggested a very high figure.


    However, we were told by the experienced guys that if we did an estimated assessment at that point, as we intended, if the matter went to tax court, it would be very difficult to prove. So we continued pressure-testing our evidence and were often sent back to the drawing board. Ultimately, we managed to refine the amount to just over R1,2 million in back taxes due to SARS.


    We were confident of this amount and of the evidence supporting our findings. None of us had any intention of losing one of our first cases.


    By May 2001 the case was ready. By then it had dawned on Barnabas that I was the very same person who’d hung out in his neighbourhood so many years before; he tried to make something of the fact that I’d worked as an undercover agent for the police in previous years, attempting to use this information to claim that the case against him was tainted. But he knew there was no point in fighting, and that the case against him was solid, and he asked for a meeting with me and a legal representative from SARS.


    In June, a SARS lawyer and I flew to Durban. We met in law chambers in what was then Smith Street. It wasn’t a very long meeting. Barnabas basically admitting that he accepted that he hadn’t paid SARS the tax he should have, and that he wished to do so now, and that he was prepared to plead guilty to charges of tax evasion. As SARS officials we couldn’t agree to his pleading guilty to tax-evasion charges, but we undertook to raise his admission of guilt with the police and the prosecuting authority.


    After that meeting in Durban, Barnabas’s legal representative made an interesting comment. He told me how his client, who’d been classified ‘coloured’, had struggled tremendously to start a legitimate business during the apartheid era. Bearing in mind that some of his unpaid taxes predated 1994, when democracy had arrived in our country, the advocate explained that people who’d suffered under the apartheid regime had deliberately evaded tax because they reasoned that they didn’t want to fund an illegitimate government that would just use their money to further suppress the black majority.


    Barnabas’s counsel, a gentle and stately man who was himself an underground-liberation stalwart, told me in a soft voice of his own suffering at the hands of the apartheid regime, and shared how some of his clients had been detained and tortured by the security police in previous years, and of others who’d simply disappeared, never to be seen again. He made a huge impression on me and caused me to question a number of my own assumptions.11


    That night I thought to myself: if Barnabas, who clearly had tremen­dous entrepreneurial and organisational skills, as well as drive and energy, had been born white, where would he have been in life now? Could he have become a hotel magnate or the owner of a string of nightclubs if he hadn’t been limited by the colour of his skin? We’ll never know but it certainly made me more aware of how people’s backgrounds impact on their lives.


    As we concluded our discussion that day in 2001, Barnabas didn’t direct the slightest hint of ill-feeling or malice towards me, despite knowing by then that I wasn’t who I’d pretended to be years before when we’d first met. In fact, it was clear to me that he, too, believed in our country’s new prospects, and realised that this time around, taxes due were to be paid for the sake of our collective future. In his own way, he bought in to the higher purpose SARS was serving in collecting funds for the Government to develop our country.


    The two of them remained seated when I stood up to leave, and as I walked through the door and turned back to wave goodbye, I could swear I saw Barnabas winking at me.


    Barnabas pleaded guilty to charges of tax evasion in the Pretoria Commercial Crimes Court. He was sentenced to four years’ imprisonment suspended for five years on condition that he continued cooperating with SARS to conclude his tax audit. ‘When that, including interest and penalties, is calculated it is expected to be a substantial amount… We also have additional agreements with him regarding his business entities which will again involve a substantial recovery for us,’ SARS’s spokesperson reported.12


    But the matter didn’t end here.


    On a typically humid April afternoon in 2003, in the tropical city of Durban, various cars descended from all directions on a house in Sydenham. Members of the local police, the newly established SARS Special Compliance Unit and the local SARS office jumped out of the cars and ran up to the house.


    Barnabas’s wife, Amelia, opened the door. She was told that SARS had obtained a court order to seize all assets in the house. She immediately tried to call her husband but failed to reach him. The officials allowed her to try again and again, but to no avail. Eventually she called the family lawyer.


    Soon their daughter, Chantel, arrived with the family lawyer in tow. By then word had spread in the small suburb and a fairly large group of onlookers had gathered around the house and across the road. 13


    Because I didn’t want anybody in the Special Compliance Unit to be accused of anything afterwards, I instructed that the entire process be video-recorded. This was the unit’s first big case and we weren’t going to take any chances.


    The officials started the painstaking process of going through the house, writing up a complete inventory of everything. Large amounts of cash were found in several rooms.


    But this wasn’t the only address being visited by officials. Another was at a popular nightclub, Obsession, in the city centre, while yet another team was busy at a clothing store in a nearby shopping mall.


    What had brought about these actions was a court order following the failure by Barnabas to settle all his debts with SARS. SARS had approached the Durban High Court and obtained the order because he’d failed to pay an agreed amount of over R4,3 million. The order had allowed the sheriff to seize all movable and immovable property that belonged to Barnabas, to sell it off on auction, and to use the returns to pay the back taxes to SARS.


    The process took a long time and ran late into the night. By arrangement with the family lawyer, it was agreed to post two security guards outside the house so that the team could return the next day to seize all movable property, which included furniture, electronic goods, and hundreds of pairs of imported Sebago shoes estimated to be worth about R500 000. Other items seized included four motor vehicles, cameras, guns, jewellery, computer equipment and a large quantity of documents.


    The media loved the story, with one newspaper warning other would-be tax evaders about the ‘new’ SARS, reporting that we would get them – no matter who or where they were.14
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    Dominoes


    The man was nervous. He kept looking about, and constantly sought assurances from me that I’d come alone to meet him at the shopping mall in the east of Johannesburg. I could see he hadn’t been sleeping well and was going through a difficult time.


    I tried to reassure him, because he was the key to one of the largest projects we’d ever undertaken at SARS. He could explain to me how hundreds of millions of rands have been pilfered from the fiscus, and provide the evidence to prove who’d been involved and how they’d gone about their ‘business’ in the electronics industry: he held all the knowledge of the myriad schemes executed in the electronics industry during those years. But he would have to be brave to come clean about them – very brave.


    So how did I end up at this meeting some time in 2001?


    The year before, quite a few local representatives of brand holders (companies or people who hold a trademark or patent over a brand or name of any goods or services) and suppliers of some of the most famous brands of everyday items, such as computers, fridges, radios and televisions, had approached SARS to say that they were considering pulling their companies from the country. They explained that they could no longer compete against unscrupulous local importers and dealerships that were undervaluing imported goods, enabling them to sell their products to consumers at far below landed cost.iv What these famous brand holders were saying to Government was that there were just too many people tricking SARS on the importation of their products, which gave them an unfair advantage in the market.


    At that point the electronics sector consisted of nine major manufacturing firms directly employing almost 9 000 workers. The sector contributed about 2% to the GDP1 and generated a turnover of around R7,7 billion in the retail sector alone.


    If those brand holders were to leave our shores, it would result not only in the loss of taxes they would have paid to the fiscus, but significant job losses and a dent to our reputation as a country.


    Something had to be done, and it had to be done quickly, because we needed to demonstrate to the sector, and those within it who were compliant, that the State did care, and was capable of dealing with unfair competitive behaviour. Time was not on our side.


    Enter the enigmatic Shirish Soni, once an operative in the ANC as part of an underground cell of uMkhonto we Sizwe (MK), the military wing of the liberation movement. (Public records would later reveal that the cell he belonged to was commanded from Mozambique by ANC operative Ebrahim Ismail Ebrahim, who in turn reported to Jacob Zuma.) Soni had been arrested and detained several times by the notorious apartheid security police in the 1980s; on one occasion, they’d tortured him to within an inch of his life.


    A tall, handsome vegetarian who’s also a yoga expert, Soni has one of the sharpest business minds I’ve ever encountered. He was an entrepreneur and businessman in his own right before he joined SARS in 2000 as deputy head of Customs and Excise. With his abundance of grace and total lack of bitterness, he quickly became one of my mentors.


    Soni was assigned the task to come up with a plan to deal with the undervaluations, misdeclarations and fraud that were rife in the electronics industry, in collaboration with Gene Ravele, a senior manager in the National Special Investigations division at the time.


    Ravele also has a track record in the liberation struggle from his student days. He’s from the northern part of the country and hails from royal lineage. Politically savvy and princely in manner, he was more observer and director in style than actual operative. Ravele was one of the first people I met at SARS when I started there; it was he who vetted my CV and ensured that I was suitable for the job.


    One day Soni and Ravele called me to a meeting. SARS had just moved its head office from the drab building in what was then Visagie Street to its brand-new headquarters in Brooklyn, Pretoria, aptly named Lehae la SARS – ‘the home of SARS’ in Sotho.


    It was in one of the nicely furnished new offices that I met with these two men. They told me about the case they were working on, and we all agreed that we had to act swiftly and across the entire spectrum of the electronics industry.


    ‘Here’s a pen, JvL,’ said Soni, handing me a marker. ‘Draw me the picture. How do we tackle this thing so that we make a major impact?’


    On the whiteboard, I outlined a broad strategy for the electronics-industry project, to take on the myriad players who were dodging SARS and pushing legitimate companies out of the market. The plan had a few elements.


    First, we had to put together a SARS team to dedicate time and effort to the case. The team would include a few old hands, two lawyers from the legal department and a couple of the new people, mostly from the Special Investigations division.


    Second, we had to identify and collate all existing cases where Special Investigations, audit and customs people were already engaged in disputes with subjects in the electronics industry. This would enable us to possibly identify common denominators and understand the scope of the problem.


    Third, we had to connect with the then SAPS Commercial Crimes Unit, the National Prosecuting Authority (NPA) and the erstwhile Scorpions.2 Where possible, cases had to be fast-tracked through the criminal-justice system.


    And finally, we needed a means to address role-players across the value chain. This meant that the smaller players, the middlemen, the financiers, the lawyers, the money-launderers, the bigger players and ultimately the very biggest ones, including listed companies, had to be identified.


    The collation of cases immediately presented a difficulty for us as a management team. We were the ‘new guys’ at SARS and, as mentioned, some of the older hands viewed us with suspicion, continually reminding us how complicated cases were and that things couldn’t happen the way we thought they could. This was a very difficult period at SARS, when the old guard, who were either jockeying for positions or were angry at having lost their privileged run of the range, were opposed to any kind of change.


    Compounding this was the fact that there was no central case register, and the older Inspectorate and Customs Special Investigations case-management systems were all but nonexistent. I and a few others had to search for cases manually, relying on word of mouth and the grapevine to, first, identify the types of cases we were looking for, and then engage the investigators involved in those cases in order to understand what they’d done up to that point, who they were investigating, the modus operandi and the possible outcomes.


    We had some success, but in some cases the investigators made it virtually impossible for us to understand their cases, simply refusing to engage or work with us. They seemed unable or unwilling to understand the concept of a broader, high-impact approach to a high-risk sector in our economy, preferring to engage at the transactional level of a single case only. We had a hell of a time dealing with them. I was subjected to most of the vitriol, since I was the ‘sellout’ who’d sided with the ‘commies’ – although ideologically opposed to the new Government, these guys were smart enough not to attack anyone else on the team who wasn’t white.


    Ultimately, however, we managed to get hold of most of the cases, which were at various stages of completion. None was at the stage where assessments could be issued, debts collected or criminal proceedings instituted. This was partly because the older Inspectorate and Special Investigations units didn’t have a standard procedure that provided for measurable outcomes or a case-management system – investigators just plodded along with whatever case happened to fall in their lap, and they did their work pretty much however they chose to at any given time.


    One advantage of this exercise was that it enabled SARS to begin to build and, in time, perfect a case-management system and investigations process, with measurable outcomes for investigators.


    Another benefit of using the grapevine to look for cases was that I began to develop a broader understanding of the nature of the schemes in the electronics industry, and work out who was who, and the geographies and scale of the issues. It was, in fact, during this time that we stumbled across a case that at first glance seemed to have nothing to do with the electronics industry at all but turned out to be pivotal to our investigation.


    It concerned a well-known Pretoria family, AA Tayob and his three sons, Rafik, Khaleed and Ryaaz, and their uncle, Abdul Rashid, who jointly owned several companies that allegedly owed R76 million to SARS in customs duties. They didn’t have the funds to pay this amount and, as a result, the family businesses had collapsed; all except Rafik Tayob were declared bankrupt.3
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